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BEFORE THE IOWA WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSIONER

_____________________________________________________________________



  :

KATHLEEN ELLISON,
  :



  :


Claimant,
  :



  :

vs.

  :
File Nos. 5003099 (DOI:  10/03/97),



  :                       5003100 (DOI:  09/08/00)

HY-VEE FOOD STORES, INC.
  :



  :                    A R B I T R A T I O N


Employer,
  :



  :                         D E C I S I O N

and

  :



  :

C.G.U. HAWKEYE-SECURITY
  :

INSURANCE, 
  :     HEAD NOTE NOS:  1106; 1401; 1402.20;



  :     1402.30; 1402.40; 1402.50; 1402.60;


Insurance Carrier,
  :     1402.30; 1703; 1802; 1803; 2206; 2209;


Defendants.
  :     2401; 2501; 2801; 2902; 2907

______________________________________________________________________

INTRODUCTION

This is a proceeding in arbitration filed by Kathleen Ellison, claimant, against Hy‑Food Stores, Inc., employer, and C.G.U. Hawkeye‑Security Insurance, insurance carrier, defendants, for benefits as a result of an injury to her left shoulder and left lower extremity that occurred on October 3, 1997 and also an alleged injury of bilateral carpal tunnel that allegedly occurred on September 8, 2000.  A hearing was held in Davenport, Iowa, at the Kahl Building at 8:00 a.m. on December 18, 2003.

Claimant was represented by David W. Newell.  Defendants were represented by Jane V. Lorentzen.

The record consists of claimant’s exhibits 1 through 4 consisting of 19 pages; defendants’ exhibits A through M consisting of 155 pages; the testimony of Kathleen Ellison, claimant; the testimony of Mitchell (Mike) Ellison, claimant’s husband; and the testimony of Kevin Smith, employer’s kitchen manager and claimant’s supervisor.


Also in the courtroom at the time of the hearing was Ramona Sywassink, employer’s general merchandise manager and employer’s human resources manager for Italian Express in Muscatine, Iowa.


The case was fully submitted at the close of the hearing.


Both attorneys submitted excellent post hearing briefs.

PRELIMINARY MATTER


Claimant’s attorney submitted an itemized list of medical expenses being claimed by claimant with the itemized bills attached to the list.  These medical expenses total $8,940.27.  The list and the itemized bills are labeled “Medical Bills” and attached to the hearing report.

STIPULATIONS AND ISSUES

File No. 5003099 (DOI:  10/03/97)

STIPULATIONS


The parties stipulated to the following matters at the time of the hearing:

1. That an employer/employee relationship existed between employer and claimant at the time of the injury;

2. That claimant did, in fact, sustain an injury on October 3, 1997 to her left shoulder and left lower extremity which arose out of and in the course of her employment with employer (Explanatory Note:  Claim File 5003099 contains two petitions in one file.  One petition is for a left shoulder injury.  The other petition is for a left lower extremity injury.  Both injuries occurred on October 3, 1997);

3. That the injuries were the cause of temporary disability;

4. That claimant’s entitlement to temporary disability benefits was no longer in dispute;

5. That the injury was the cause of permanent disability;

6. That in the event of an award of permanent disability benefits that the type of permanent disability is an industrial disability for an injury to the body as a whole;

7. That at the time of the injury claimant’s gross earnings were $125.87 per week, that claimant was married, that claimant was entitled to four exemptions, and that the parties believed that the rate of workers’ compensation to be $116.73 per week;

8. That defendants were not asserting any affirmative defenses;

9. That medical benefits were no longer in dispute;

10. That in the event of an award of permanent disability benefits that defendants were entitled to a credit for 56 weeks of workers’ compensation benefits paid to claimant prior to hearing at the rate of $116.73 per week in the total amount of $6,536.88.

ISSUES


The parties submitted the following issues for determination at the time of the hearing:

1. Whether claimant is entitled to permanent disability benefits, and if so, how much;

2. What is the commencement date for permanent partial disability benefits if any are awarded.

STIPULATIONS AND ISSUES

File No. 5003100 (DOI:  09/08/00)

STIPULATIONS

The parties stipulated to the following matters at the time of the hearing:

1. That an employer/employee relationship existed between employer and claimant at the time of the alleged injury;

2. That the alleged injury was the cause of temporary disability;

3. That claimant was asserting a claim for disability benefits from April 25, 2001 through October 8, 2001 and that although entitlement to benefits for this period of time cannot be stipulated, claimant was off work during this period of time;

4. That the parties stipulated that the alleged injury was the cause of permanent disability;

5. That in the event of an award of permanent disability, the parties stipulated that the disability was a scheduled member disability to the upper extremities;

6. That the commencement date for permanent partial disability benefits, if any are awarded, is October 8, 2001;

7. At the time of the alleged injury, claimant’s gross earnings were $187.98 per week, that claimant was married and entitled to four exemptions and that the parties believed that the workers’ compensation rate to be $138.90 per week based upon the foregoing information;

8. That defendants were not asserting an affirmative defense under Iowa Code section 85.16 or Iowa Code section 85.26;

9. That with respect to the itemized list of disputed medical expenses;

a) The fees or prices charged by the medical providers are fair and reasonable,

b) That the treatment was reasonable and necessary,

c) That if disputed, the medical providers would testify as to the reasonableness of their fees and/or treatment set forth in the listed expenses and defendants are not offering contrary evidence;

10. That defendants have not asserted a credit for any benefits paid to claimant prior to hearing.

ISSUES


The parties submitted the following issues for determination at the time of the hearing:

1. Whether claimant did in fact sustain an injury on September 8, 2000 which arose out of and in the course of employment with employer;

2. Whether claimant is entitled to temporary disability benefits for the period from April 25, 2001 through October 8, 2001;

3. Whether claimant was entitled to permanent disability benefits for 50 weeks based upon a 10 percent loss of use of the upper extremities;

4. In the event of an award of permanent disability benefits, what is the commencement date for permanent partial disability benefits;

5. Whether the listed medical expenses were caused by or connected to the work injury;

6. Whether claimant gave timely notice pursuant to Iowa Code section 85.23 is asserted as an affirmative defense by defendants;

7. Whether claimant is entitled to costs of this action.

FINDINGS OF FACT


Claimant, Kathleen Ellison, testified that she was 52 years old at the time of the hearing.


She testified that she completed high school then attended and graduated from cosmetology school and became a licensed cosmetologist.  (Transcript, pages 24 and 25)  Prior employments include cosmetology in a beauty shop, a department store sales clerk, a jewelry store sales person and display clerk.  (Tr., pp. 26 and 27)


Claimant testified that she started to work for employer in 1996 in Muscatine, Iowa.  (Tr., p. 28)  Claimant testified that at the time of the injury that occurred on October 3, 1997 she was working in the deli operation preparing and serving food to customers.  This entailed displaying the food in cases where it can be seen, putting pots and pans where they belong, and setting up bun warmers and things like that as well as putting the prices on each item.


Claimant identified claimant’s exhibit 4 which is also defendants’ exhibit H, page 4 which is the job description for the kitchen clerk.


The job description provides:

Must be able to physically perform medium work:  exerting up to 50 pounds of force occasionally, 20 pounds of force frequently, and 10 pounds of force constantly to move objects.

Visual requirements include clarity of vision at a distance of more than 20 inches and less than 20 feet with our [sic] without correction, color vision, depth perception and field of vision.

Must be able to perform the following physical activities:

Climbing, balancing, stooping, kneeling, crouching, reaching, standing, walking, pushing, pulling, lifting, fingering, grasping, feeling, talking, hearing, and repetitive motions.

(Ex. 4, p. 2)


The job description describes the working conditions as follows:

The duties for this position are normally conducted in a store environment.  There is significant pressure to meet deadlines and handle multiple priorities.  There is exposure to noise, equipment movement hazards, cleaning chemicals/solvents, possible electrical shock and temperature extremes.

(Ex. 4, p. 2)


The job description describes the equipment used to perform the job:

Standard tools and equipment used in a kitchen environment including disposal, trash compactor, slicer, Hobart machine, grill, fryer, dishwasher, register system, ovens, rotisserie, knives, label maker and company vehicle.

(Ex. 4, p. 2)

Claimant testified there was pressure in performing this job.  (Tr., p. 30)


Claimant testified she could perform all of these duties until the time of her accident on October 3, 1997.  (Tr., p. 31)


Claimant related that at the time of this injury she was on break.  She went to the sit down area to have her break.  A co‑employee had mopped the floor with greasy water.  A customer was waiting at the cash register and was becoming impatient.  Claimant said she got up to help the women at the register.  She slipped and fell on the greasy floor.  In the course of the fall she injured her left arm and her left knee.  Her left arm got caught in a chair and her left knee struck the floor.


Claimant related that she hit the floor very hard and it caused a lot of pain at the time.  The pain was in her left knee and she received a bruise under her left arm and it was scraped up where she had reached for the chair.  Claimant received treatment at Muscatine Health on October 3, 1997 by a physician’s assistant for Rhea J. Allen, M.D.


On October 6, 1997, Dr. Allen assessed that claimant received a probable hairline fracture of the left patella and a contusion of the left knee.  A knee immobilizer was prescribed and claimant was taken off work.  (Ex. B, p. 7)


An x-ray on October 3, 1997 confirmed focal swelling and a hairline fracture involving the lower and middle thirds of the left patella, nondisplaced.  (Ex. B, p. 8)


On October 8, 1997, claimant was examined by Leo Kulick, M.D., an orthopedic surgeon, who related that claimant was using crutches for touchdown weightbearing.  (Ex. B, p. 9)


Dr. Kulick noted that claimant’s past medical history was significant for diabetes and hypothyroidism.  (Ex. B, p. 9)

Dr. Kulick assessed acute closed undisplaced transverse/oblique inferior pole left patella fracture.  (Ex. B, p. 10)


In November 1997, Dr. Kulick assessed:  (1) undisplaced left patella fracture, healing; (2) left rotator cuff strain, also demonstrating early improvement.  Rotator cuff clinically intact.  (Ex. B, p. 13)


Claimant attributed the right trigger thumb to the use of crutches from the October 3, 1997 injury.  Claimant described lifting fryers full of chicken and lifting heavy pots and pans as triggering her left thumb and index finger and her right index and long fingers.


Dr. Kulick performed a right trigger thumb release on February 10, 1998.  (Ex. A, p. 1)


Dr. Kulick’s assessment on May 11, 1998 was:  “Residual quad insufficiency left knee status post healed left patella fracture.  Left rotator cuff strain, largely resolved but with continued range of motion deficit, which should also continue to gradually improve.”  (Ex. B, p. 22)


Claimant saw Rhea J. Allen, M.D. on February 28, 2000.

Dr. Allen noted that Kathleen’s past medical history was remarkable for Type I diabetes and hypothyroidism.  (Ex. B, p. 28)

Dr. Allen restricted claimant from lifting more than 10 pounds forward and over head reach with the left arm and avoid vegetable preparations of cutting or chopping vegetables due to her trigger fingers.  (Ex. B. p. 28)  Dr. Allen recommended a job analysis if she could arrange it with Hy‑Vee.

Electrodiagnostic studies on the upper and lower extremities on January 16, 2001 did not reveal any abnormalities compatible with the patient’s symptoms and the results were therefore termed “inconclusive and probably normal at that time.”  (Ex. A, p. 3)


On February 14, 2001, Dr. Kulick assessed relapsing left rotator cuff strain and bilateral carpal tunnel syndromes.


On March 22, 2001, Dr. Kulick performed a complete decompression of the left subacromial space with Neer acromioplasty, distal clavicle, and coracoacromial ligament resections, subtotal subacromial bursectomy; manipulation of left shoulder for lysis of adhesions.  (Ex. A, p. 5)


On May 18, 2001, Dr. Kulick gave a note that claimant was to be released from work until the next appointment on June 18, 2001.  (Ex. B, p. 61)  On June 25, 2001, he said claimant was to remain off work because of her bilateral carpal tunnel releases which were approximately 12 weeks apart and he estimated her temporary disability to be approximately six months.  (Ex. B, p. 62)


Claimant was scheduled for a right carpal tunnel release by Dr. Kulick on July 5, 2001.


On July 11, 2001, Dr. Kulick noted that six days after the right carpal tunnel decompression, claimant was doing quite well.


As recommended by Dr. Allen, claimant was seen by William F. Blair, M.D. on June 1, 2000, who formed the impression:  1) Type 1 diabetes.  2) Hypothyroidism.  3) Triggering right index finger and left thumb.  4) Left shoulder pain, under medical management.  (Ex. C, p. 3)


Dr. Blair said her prognosis was relatively poor and that he would recommend surgical treatment.  (Ex. C, p. 3)


Also on June 1, 2000, Dr. Blair wrote to the insurance carrier that he had conducted his independent medical evaluation and he concluded:  “It is my opinion that her right index trigger finger and her left trigger thumb are associated with her type I diabetes, and that the disorders are not causally related to her work activities in the deli and kitchen at Hy‑Vee Food Stores.”  (Ex. C, p. 1)


Also as recommended by Dr. Allen, Paul O. Kraushaar, P.T. reported on March 30, 2000:  “On Tuesday, March 28, 2000, I went to HyVee from 0830 to 0930 hours to do an ergonomic analysis of the work area of Ms. Ellison.  Upon arrival, I spoke with Mr. Kevin Smith, her department manager.  He informed me that Ms Ellison does a variety of different jobs.”  (Ex. E, p. 1)

Mr. Kraushaar described claimant’s activities during his one hour of observation in some detail.  (Ex. E, pp. 1 and 2)


Physical Therapist Kraushaar concluded:  

Ms. Ellison’s job is actually quite varying.  She does use her hands constantly, but not doing the same repetitive task as one would find in a manufacturing or clerical position.  She has grip tasks that vary from a tip to tip pinch when she is picking up utensils or napkins, to a full fist grip when she is picking up filled glasses or plates.

(Ex. E, p. 2)  

This physical therapist concluded as follows:  

Because her job is so varying, I only have the following ergonomic recommendation.  

1.  She is not a tall woman and some of the heights that she has to reach while cooking are at or near her maximum reach.  I would recommend that she have a step stool available to her so that she would not have to reach so high or far, but use the step stool when needed.  However, this may not work well either due to the trip and fall hazard that it may present.  This would need to be discussed with her supervisor to determine how that might work in this area.  

(Ex. E, p. 3)


Dr. Kulick responded to a letter from the insurance carrier on April 16, 1999 requesting information.  At that time Dr. Kulick wrote:  

MMI 10/23/98

(1)  (R) thumb-no impairment

(2) (L) patella fracture:  7% impairment LLE  

                                       3% impairment WP

(3) (L) shoulder:  8% impairment LUE    

                             5% impairment WP

Total WP impairment 8%

                                          /s/ Kulick

                                         4/16/99  

(Ex. B, p. 3)

Subsequently on June 26, 2003, Dr. Kulick wrote to defendants’ counsel that:  “Postoperatively the shoulder has improved and most likely at the current time the residual permanent impairment rating for the left upper extremity would be approximately 4%-5% postoperative.”  (Ex. B, p. 1)

Claimant’s counsel submitted a progress note of Dr. Kulick dated May 18, 2001.

In that report Dr. Kulick stated:  “The carpal tunnel syndrome became sufficiently symptomatic in approx January to require active treatment.”  (Ex. 2, p.1)

With respect to causal connection, claimant’s primary and only treating physician opined as follows:  “The carpal tunnel syndrome may or may not have been caused solely the pt’s work.  However there is no question that the repetitive work which she performed in the kitchen, especially cutting of vegetables and meats definitely caused aggravation and progression.”  (Ex. 2, p. 1)


Then with respect to claimant’s temporary disability in dispute in this case, Dr. Kulick wrote:

Though the pt was initially retd to light-duty work w/ restrictive hours following the previous clinic visit on 4/23, the work status was revised because of the extensive drive that the pt is required to make in order to get to work significantly exacerbated the carpal tunnel syndromes.  It was felt best to cont the work release.  However, because the carpal tunnel syndromes were not related to the shoulder injury, the insurance carrier suspended worker’s comp benefits but initiated payments on the basis of anticipated permanent impairment as detailed in the letter of April 30, 2001, which is included on the chart. . . .  Tinel’s and Phalen’s of both wrists remain signif pos.  

(Ex. 2, p. 1)

On this same report, Dr. Kulick concluded as follows:

It is possible to consider a return to light-duty work though I anticipate that the restriction parameters would be sufficiently stringent that the employer would not be able to effectively accommodate.  Repetitive manual work for both hands would need to be essentially eliminated.  Maximum 10-lb lifting limit.  No pushing or pulling.  W/ this consideration it’s probably best just to cont the work release and proceed to completion of treatment.

(Ex. 2, pp. 1 and 2)

Claimant’s assertion for entitlement to temporary disability benefits for the bilateral carpal tunnel injury is found on the insurance carrier’s note dated April 24, 2001 which states:  “Here is the doctor’s note:(in handwriting apparently made by Jane Pratt corresponding to Troy Lane)  Restrictions set by Doctor on Tuesday afternoon – will not be back to work.”  (Ex. 2, p. 4)

Thus, Dr. Kulick has taken claimant off work as of the following day, April 25, 2001.  Therefore this supercedes the note on the previous day, April 23, 2001 which indicated light duty was available and signed by Dr. Kulick on April 23, 2001.  (Ex. 2, p. 5)


This causal connection statement of Dr. Kulick and claimant’s removal from work was prefaced by his note of January 22, 2001 in which he stated:

Continues to experience numbness and tingling involving both hands associated with aching pain radiating proximally in variable fashion, occasionally to the shoulders.  The hand symptoms have not improved, if anything they have progressed.  In general symptoms become more prominent in proportion to a better activity, particularly when lifting or gripping are involved.  The patient particularly notes that her symptoms will be exacerbated if she is chopping vegetables at work, performing activities such as lifting and scrubbing of pans, etc.  Electrodiagnostic studies have been completed and are felt to be inconclusive.  Electrophysiologic function is still within the normal range.  

(Ex. 2, p. 7)

Richard F. Neiman, M.D., neurologist, saw claimant on November 15, 2002 and wrote to claimant’s counsel on December 16, 2002.  (Ex. 1, p. 1)  Dr. Neiman examined claimant’s left knee and her left shoulder.

Dr. Neiman’s examination of the left shoulder indicated marked limitation of the ROM (range of motion).

Examination of the left knee indicated a full range of motion.

Dr. Neiman stated:  “At the present time I believe she has permanent impairment related to the left shoulder, right and left carpal tunnel syndrome and left knee.  Using table 17/33, patella fracture undisplaced heel, the level of impairment would be 7% of the lower extremity and 3% of the whole person.”  (Ex. 1, p. 3)

Dr. Neiman concluded the claimant had a 22 percent impairment of the upper extremity which translated into 13 percent of the whole person.  (Ex. 1, p. 3)  Dr. Neiman reported:

I did do EMG studies as far as the abductor pollicis brevis in both hands.  There are changes of some increased polyphasic motor units and some occasional giant motor units being seen.  She has reduced strength on the JAMAR strength index as well.  I would use table 495 suggesting that the level of 5% of the upper extremities, both hands, be given.  Using the combined values table, it would be 10% of the upper extremity relating to the carpal tunnel.

(Ex. 1, pp. 3 and 4)


Dr. Neiman continued:

As far as functional restrictions, she has the inability to use the left shoulder above shoulder level.  Tasks which require repetitive flexion/extension, abduction, adduction, internal/external rotation of the shoulder should be avoided.  

Restrictions as far as the left knee would be excessive climbing of stairs or squatting or bending which may aggravate the problem as far as the pain.  

Restrictions of the carpal tunnel, I would avoid repetitive trauma to the wrist both with flexion/extension, radial and ulnar flexion.

(Ex. 1, p. 4)


Dr. Neiman concluded his report by stating:

It is my opinion that the injury to the patella is obviously related to the fall at HyVee as was the injury to the left shoulder.  The bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome relates to repetitive trauma of the wrist.  There is no evidence of diabetic neuropathy to account for her symptoms nor should the hypothyroid account for the carpal tunnel syndrome.

(Ex. 1, p. 4)


Attached to the first report of injury is a statement dated February 25, 2000 and signed by Ramona Sywassink which stated as follows:

Kathleen complained to me of pain in both hands that she feels is brought on by the handling of the baskets on the fryer.  She says that the pain in the right hand (specifically her thumb, index and center fingers from the base of the hand to the fingertip) started bothering her just before the holidays.  (approx beginning of Nov 1999)  And that the pain in her left hand (same areas as descibed [sic] on the right hand) didn’t start bothering her until about a week ago.  She says she handles the fryer baskets approximately 8 times each day and that it is a daily task.

(Ex. 4, p. 5)


On March 12, 2000, claimant wrote a statement to whom it may concern in which she stated that she had developed trigger fingers on both hands (thumb and index finger of the left hand) and (index finger and middle finger of the right hand) the other fingers are giving me pain also but these are the ones that lock up on me and will not release on their own.  This is caused by chopping vegetables with a large knife and lifting heavy containers of food items into the hot case to be served.  This statement also says that:

Dr. Allen told me to write this letter to you to explain the reason for the treatment, as the questions asked in the medical request seems to be more towards new injurys [sic] that can be answered easy on the form, not a combination of old aggravated injury and new that comes on over a period of time that combined makes you have to have treatment.

(Ex. 4, p. 6)


Claimant’s “To whom it may concern” statement tends to be subjective.  These statements which claimant gave to Ramona Sywassink could be construed as self serving.


However a report of one of the medical professionals, a physical therapist, dated September 8, 2000 should be construed to be objective and having the weight that should be accorded to a medical professional.  Physical Therapist Caleen Pagel stated that claimant has been noting numbness and tightness throughout both upper extremities with general achiness in her arms.  She did see Dr. Kulick on Wednesday, for now he is going to renew therapy t.i.w.  (Ex. 3, p. 2)


Likewise on September 18, 2000, Physical Therapist Pagel reported:

Patient reporting numbness and tingling throughout both upper extremities after the completion of her exercise session.  She reports that seems to be coming more frequently after she works and may [sic] times during her work days, as well as throughout the exercise session in therapy.  She especially notices this when she has to do more cooking at work where she has to get hash browns out of a container, reaching overhead and in our clinic after she practices lifting and carrying 5lbs, 71/2lbs and 10lb weights.  We have continued to utilize phonophoresis post treatment.

(Ex. 3, p. 1)


Claimant testified that she could no longer perform the job at the deli for Hy-Vee because of her permanent work restrictions.  (Tr., pp. 52 and 53)


Claimant testified that when the physical therapist was at Hy-Vee to watch her perform her employment, he did not see her cutting vegetables and meat and chopping with a knife or washing pots and pans and therefore he did not get an accurate picture of what her job entails.  (Tr., p. 55)


Mitchell Glen Ellison, claimant’s husband, testified that he took his wife to the hospital on October 3, 1997 in the afternoon.


Mr. Ellison testified that prior to these injuries they had a very active lifestyle camping, walking, rock climbing, playing baseball, badminton, jogging, and wrestling with the kids.  However she could no longer do these things or was severely restricted in doing them.  He said she is not able to drive now because of non work‑related health problems and therefore he is required to do all of the driving.  Mr. Ellison testified that many of the medical bills remain unpaid.


Kevin Merle Smith testified that he is the kitchen manager at Hy-Vee in Muscatine and has been since 1992 and he was claimant’s supervisor.  He described claimant’s duties as a variety of things such as running the cash register, cooking, cutting vegetables and meat, bussing tables, making coffee, making toast, cleaning things, and carrying out breakfast to customers.  He says she never performed any one duty more than half an hour and that her duties were varied.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

File No. 5003099 (DOI:  10/03/99)


The parties stipulated that claimant did sustain an injury which arose out of and in the course of her employment on October 3, 1997; that the injury was the cause of permanent disability and that the type of permanent disability is industrial disability; that her workers’ compensation rate for this injury is $116.73 and that temporary disability benefits and medical benefits were no longer in dispute.


The primary issue on this file is claimant’s entitlement to industrial disability.

While a claimant is not entitled to compensation for the results of a preexisting injury or disease, its mere existence at the time of a subsequent injury is not a defense.  Rose v. John Deere Ottumwa Works, 247 Iowa 900, 76 N.W.2d 756 (1956).  If the claimant had a preexisting condition or disability that is materially aggravated, accelerated, worsened or lighted up so that it results in disability, claimant is entitled to recover.  Nicks v. Davenport Produce Co., 254 Iowa 130, 115 N.W.2d 812 (1962); Yeager v. Firestone Tire & Rubber Co., 253 Iowa 369, 112 N.W.2d 299 (1961).

Functional impairment is an element to be considered in determining industrial disability which is the reduction of earning capacity, but consideration must also be given to the injured employee's age, education, qualifications, expe​rience and inability to engage in employment for which the employee is fitted.  Olson v. Goodyear Service Stores, 255 Iowa 1112, 125 N.W.2d 251 (1963); Barton v. Nevada Poultry, 253 Iowa 285, 110 N.W.2d 660 (1961).

A finding of impairment to the body as a whole found by a medical evaluator does not equate to industrial disability.  Impairment and disability are not synonymous.  The degree of industrial disability can be much different than the degree of impairment because industrial disability references to loss of earning capacity and impairment references to anatomical or functional abnormality or loss.  Although loss of function is to be considered and disability can rarely be found without it, it is not so that a degree of industrial disability is proportionally related to a degree of impairment of bodily function.

Factors to be considered in determining industrial dis​ability include the employee's medical condition prior to the injury, immediately after the injury, and presently; the situs of the injury, its severity and the length of the healing period; the work experience of the employee prior to the injury and after the injury and the potential for rehabilitation; the employee's qualifications intellectually, emotionally and physically; earnings prior and subsequent to the injury; age; education; motivation; functional impairment as a result of the injury; and inability because of the injury to engage in employment for which the employee is fitted.  Loss of earnings caused by a job transfer for reasons related to the injury is also relevant.  Likewise, an employer's refusal to give any sort of work to an impaired employee may justify an award of disability.  McSpadden v. Big Ben Coal Co., 288 N.W.2d 181 (Iowa 1980).  These are matters which the finder of fact considers collectively in arriving at the determination of the degree of industrial disability.

There are no weighting guidelines that indicate how each of the factors is to be considered.  Neither does a rating of functional impairment directly correlate to a degree of industrial disability to the body as a whole.  In other words, there are no formulae which can be applied and then added up to determine the degree of industrial disability.  It therefore becomes necessary for the deputy or commissioner to draw upon prior experience as well as general and specialized knowledge to make the finding with regard to degree of industrial disability.  See Christensen v. Hagen, Inc., Vol. 1 No. 3 State of Iowa Industrial Commissioner Decisions 529 (App. March 26, 1985); Peterson v. Truck Haven Cafe, Inc., Vol. 1 No. 3 State of Iowa Industrial Commissioner Decisions 654 (App. February 28, 1985).

Compensation for permanent partial disability shall begin at the termination of the healing period.  Compensation shall be paid in relation to 500 weeks as the disability bears to the body as a whole.  Section 85.34.


Claimant was 52 years old at the time of the hearing.  Thus, she should have been at or near the peak of her earnings capacity.


Claimant is a high school graduate and later graduated from cosmetology school but has not followed this occupation for several years.  Thus, claimant would not be considered to be an extraordinarily educated person nor likely to rehabilitate herself through academic efforts.


Claimant has a number of prior employments all of which could be classified as sales clerk and none of which provide her with any significant remunerative transferable skills beyond minimum wage.  (Ex. H, p. 8)


Claimant had:  (1) a serious rotator cuff surgery by Dr. Kulick on March 22, 2001 and (2) a right trigger thumb release on February 10, 1998 which was sequela of walking on crutches for the left knee injury.


Dr. Neiman rated claimant’s permanent impairment of the left shoulder at 13 percent of the whole person.  (Ex. 1, p. 3)  Dr. Neiman proposed functional restrictions of inability to use the left shoulder above shoulder level.  In addition tasks which require repetitive flexion/extension, abduction, adduction, internal/external rotation of the shoulder should be avoided.  (Ex. 1, p. 4)  No over‑the‑shoulder work in the competitive labor market is a very serious disability especially for a persons with little academic ability and no specialized transferable skills.


With respect to claimant’s left knee which was injured at the same time as the left shoulder, Dr. Neiman determined that claimant had sustained a three percent whole person permanent impairment.  (Ex. 1, p. 3)


Dr. Neiman’s permanent work restrictions for the left knee included excessive climbing of stairs or squatting or bending which may aggravate the problem as far as the pain.


Again, persons with minimal education academically and no transferable specialized skills usually have to rely upon either manual labor or physically strenuous jobs.


The combination of claimant’s age, education, surgeries, permanent impairment ratings, and permanent work restrictions indicate a greatly reduced earnings capacity.


Wherefore it is determined that claimant has sustained a 35 percent industrial disability to the body as a whole for the injury to her left shoulder, left knee and right trigger thumb.


Therefore it is determined that claimant is entitled to 175 weeks of permanent partial disability benefits as industrial disability for the injury of October 3, 1997 at the agreed rate of $116.73 per week in the total amount of $20,427.75.


At the same time the parties agreed that claimant was paid 56 weeks of workers’ compensation benefits at the rate of $116.73 and that defendants were entitled to a credit for $6,536.88.  This leaves the net amount due to claimant of $13,890.37.


These benefits should commence on August 22, 2001 when the previous permanent partial disability benefits ceased.
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The party who would suffer loss if an issue were not established ordinarily has the burden of proving that issue by a preponderance of the evidence.  Iowa R. App. P. 6.14(6)(e)

The claimant has the burden of proving by of preponderance of the evidence that the alleged injury actually occurred and that it both arose out of and in the course of the employment.  Ciha v. Quaker Oats Co., 552 N.W.2d 143 (Iowa 1996); Miedema v. Dial Corp., 551 N.W.2d 309 (Iowa 1996).  The words “arising out of” referred to the cause or source of the injury.  The words “in the course of” refer to the time, place, and circumstances of the injury.  2800 Corp. v. Fernandez, 528 N.W.2d 124 (Iowa 1995).  An injury arises out of the employment when a causal relationship exists between the injury and the employment.  Miedema, 551 N.W.2d 309.  The injury must be a rational consequence of a hazard connected with the employment and not merely incidental to the employment.  Koehler Electric v. Wills, 608 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2000); Miedema, 551 N.W. 2d 309.  An injury occurs “in the course of” employment when it happens within a period of employment at a place where the employee reasonably may be when performing employment duties and while the employee is fulfilling those duties or doing an activity incidental to them.  Ciha, 552 N.W.2d 143.
The claimant has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the injury is a proximate cause of the disability on which the claim is based.  A cause is proximate if it is a substantial factor in bringing about the result; it need not be the only cause.  A preponderance of the evidence exists when the causal connection is probable rather than merely possible. Frye v. Smith-Doyle Contractors, 569 N.W.2d 154 (Iowa App. 1997); George A. Hormel & Co. v. Jordan, 569 N.W.2d 148 (Iowa 1997); Sanchez v. Blue Bird Midwest, 554 N.W.2d 283 (Iowa App. 1996)

The question of causal connection is essentially within the domain of expert testimony.  The expert medical evidence must be considered with all other evidence introduced bearing on the causal connection between the injury and the disability. Supportive lay testimony may be used to buttress the expert testimony and, therefore, is also relevant and material to the causation question.  The weight to be given to an expert opinion is determined by the finder of fact and may be affected by the accuracy of the facts the expert relied upon as well as other surrounding circumstances.  The expert opinion may be accepted or rejected, in whole or in part.  St. Luke’s Hosp. v. Gray, 604 N.W.2d 646 (Iowa 2000); IBP Inc. v. Harpole, 621 N.W.2d 410 (Iowa 2001); Dunlavey v. Economy Fire and Cas. Co., 526 N.W.2d 845 (Iowa 1995). Miller v. Lauridsen Foods, Inc., 525 N.W.2d 417 (Iowa 1994).  Unrebutted expert medical testimony cannot be summarily rejected.  Poula v. Siouxland Wall & Ceiling, Inc., 516 N.W.2d 910 (Iowa App. 1994).
A personal injury contemplated by the workers’ compensation law means an injury, the impairment of health or a disease resulting from an injury which comes about, not through the natural building up and tearing down of the human body, but because of trauma.  The injury must be something that acts extraneously to the natural processes of nature and thereby impairs the health, interrupts or otherwise destroys or damages a part or all of the body.  Although many injuries have a traumatic onset, there is no requirement for a special incident or an unusual occurrence.  Injuries which result from cumulative trauma are compensable. Increased disability from a prior injury, even if brought about by further work, does not constitute a new injury, however.  St. Luke’s Hosp. v. Gray, 604 N.W.2d 646 (Iowa 2000); Ellingson v. Fleetguard, Inc., 599 N.W.2d 440 (Iowa 1999); Dunlavey v. Economy Fire & Cas. Co., 526 N.W.2d 845 (Iowa 1995); McKeever Custom Cabinets v. Smith, 379 N.W.2d 368 (Iowa 1985).  An occupational disease covered by chapter 85A is specifically excluded from the definition of personal injury.  Iowa Code section 85.61(4) (b); Iowa Code section 85A.8; Iowa Code section 85A.14.


Dr. Kulick, the orthopedic surgeon, who was claimant’s primary treating doctor and performed all of her surgeries opined:  “The carpal tunnel syndrome may or may not have been caused solely [by] the pt’s work.  However there is no question that the repetitive work which she performed in the kitchen, especially cutting of vegetables and meats definitely caused aggravation and progression.”  (Ex. 2, p.1)


Dr. Neiman opined:  “The bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome relates to repetitive trauma of the wrist.  There is no evidence of diabetic neuropathy to account for her symptoms nor should the hypothyroid account for the carpal tunnel syndrome.”  (Ex. 1, p. 4)


Physical Therapist Kraushaar’s opinion that her work did not cause carpal tunnel is discounted for the reason that his qualifications for such a determination were never placed in evidence.  As between Physical Therapist Kraushaar and Dr. Kulick, Dr. Kulick’s causal connection opinion is preferred over Physical Therapist Kraushaar.


Dr. Blair at the University of Iowa concluded:  “It is my opinion that her right index trigger finger and her left trigger thumb are associated with her type 1 diabetes, and that the disorders are not causally related to her work activities in the deli and kitchen at Hy‑Vee Food Stores.”  (Ex. C, p. 1)


Dr. Blair, although a highly qualified physician, nevertheless was not a treating physician.  Rather he was employed to provide evidence for litigation and for no responsibility for claimant’s recovery or failure to recover.

In this case Dr. Kulick the authorizing treating orthopedic surgeon’s opinion is preferred over the opinion of Dr. Blair.  Dr. Blair saw claimant once.  Dr. Kulick saw claimant numerous, numerous times.

It should be noted also that Dr. Neiman who is a highly respected physician stated:  “There is no evidence of diabetic neuropathy to account for her symptoms nor should the hypothyroid account for the carpal tunnel syndrome.”  (Ex. 1, p. 4)

Dr. Rhea Allen suspected that claimant’s bilateral carpal tunnel complaints were related to her diabetes and hypothyroidism.  She was not sure of it.  Therefore she enlisted Physical Therapist Kraushaar and Dr. Blair for an opinion rather than definitively rely on her own suspicion.  (Ex. B, pp. 28-34)

Therefore the opinions of Dr. Kulick the authorized treating physician an orthopedic surgeon who performed the surgeries in this case as well as the opinion of Dr. Neiman are preferred over the suspicions of Dr. Rhea Allen.

It is also noted that even though Dr. Allen suspected diabetes and hypothyroidism as the cause of the upper extremity complaints, she nevertheless limited claimant’s lifting to 10 pounds, prohibited forward and overhead reaching, and ordered avoidance of vegetable cutting and chopping preparations which gives credence also to the possiblity that Dr. Allen was also suspicioning bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome caused by work.

Wherefore, it is determined that based upon the foregoing evidence and analysis that claimant did in fact sustain a bilateral carpal tunnel injury to her upper extremities.  As in all cumulative injuries several potential injury dates present themselves.  On February 25, 2000 Ramona Sywassink described carpal tunnel syndromes brought on by handling the baskets on the fryer which caused pain in claimant’s right hand thumb, index and center fingers from the base of the hand to the fingertip and according to Sywassink started bothering her just before the holidays beginning in November of 1999 and that the pain in her left hand in the same areas did not start until about a week before February 25, 2000.  (Ex. 4, p. 5)

These dates based upon Ms. Sywassink’s recollection are close enough to support a determination that claimant sustained a near simultaneous injury to both upper extremities which would be covered by Iowa Code section 85.34(s)(2).

The word simultaneous in that code section has been interpreted in several previous workers’ compensation decisions to mean in close proximity.

It should be noted that Ms. Sywassink is an employer representative.

Furthermore in claimant’s note dated March 12, 2000 to whom it may concern, she described trigger fingers on both hands (thumb and index finger on the left hand) and (index finger and middle finger of the right hand) and that other fingers were giving her pain also and will not release themselves on their own.

Most importantly one of the physical therapists who was treating claimant by the name of Caleen Pagel, PT recorded on September 8, 2002:  “Patient has been noting numbness and tingling throughout both upper extremities with general achiness down her arms.  She did see Dr. Kulick on Wednesday, for now he is going to renew therapy t.i.w.”  (Ex. 3, p. 2)

The significance of Ms. Pagel’s recorded note is that she is a medical professional simply performing her job of reporting important information who is neither attempting to favor either the employer’s case or the claimant’s case.  Her written recorded note is clearly objective evidence with a professional medical basis.  For that reason this deputy determines that the date of injury for the bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome is September 8, 2000.

Ms. Pagel continues to report carpal tunnel symptoms on September 18, 2000:  

Patient reporting numbness and tingling throughout both upper extremities after the completion of her exercise session.  She reports that seems to be coming more frequently after she works and may [sic] times during her work days, as well as througout the exercise session in therapy.  She especially notices this when she has to do more cooking at work where she has to get hash browns out of a container, reaching overhead and in our clinic after she practices lifting and carrying 5lbs, 71/2lbs and 10lb weights.  (Ex. 3, p. 1)


With respect to the affirmative defense of notice, it is determined that defendants have failed to sustain the burden of proof by a preponderance of the evidence that claimant failed to give notice pursuant to Iowa Code section 85.23.


This code section provides two ways to provide notice and both of them have been met in this case.


Claimant reported carpal tunnel symptoms on March 12, 2000 six months prior to this injury date and it was apparently disregarded.


Furthermore claimant has established that defendants had actually notice of bilateral carpal tunnel by the remarks of remarks of Ramona Sywassink who was employed by employer in the managerial and supervisory capacity.

Section 85.23 requires an employee to give notice of the occurrence of an injury to the employer within 90 days from the date of the occurrence, unless the employer has actual knowledge of the occurrence of the injury.

The purpose of the 90-day notice or actual knowledge requirement is to give the employer an opportunity to timely investigate the facts surrounding the injury.  The actual knowledge alternative to notice is met when the employer, as a reasonably conscientious manager, is alerted to the possibility of a potential compensation claim through information which makes the employer aware that the injury occurred and that it may be work related.  Dillinger v. City of Sioux City, 368 N.W.2d 176 (Iowa 1985); Robinson v. Dep't of Transp., 296 N.W.2d 809 (Iowa 1980).  The time period for giving notice does not begin to run until the claimant as a reasonable person, should recognize the nature, seriousness and probable compensable character of the injury.  The reasonableness of claimant's conduct is to be judged in light of claimant's education and intelligence.  Claimant must know enough about the condition or incident to realize that it is both serious and work connected.  Positive medical information is unnecessary if information from any source gives notice of the condition's probable compensability.  Robinson, 296 N.W.2d at 812.

Failure to give notice is an affirmative defense which the employer must prove by a preponderance of the evidence.  DeLong v. Highway Comm'n, 229 Iowa 700, 295 N.W. 91 (1940).


Thus, it is determined that claimant has sustained the burden of proof that she did give proper notice of this injury in light of her education and intelligence and at the same time defendants had actual notice of her condition.


Furthermore numerous medical reports were provided to the employer and/or insurance carrier throughout claimant’s entire lengthy treatment.  In particular, Physical Therapist Caleen Pagel showed on her recorded note of September 8, 2000 that a copy was supplied to “HyVee – Workman Comp.”  (Ex. 3, p. 2)


Therefore, September 8, 2000 is determined to be the date when it was professionally and medically determined that claimant had a bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome.


It is further determined that claimant gave notice of her bilateral carpal tunnel symptoms prior to this cumulative injury date.  Furthermore Ramona Sywassink, a manager, had actual notice of carpal tunnel complaints on February 25, 2000 prior to the actual injury date for cumulative injury purposes and, therefore, defendants did not sustain their burden of proof by preponderance of the evidence that claimant failed to give proper notice as required by Iowa Code section 85.23.  Claimant is asserting a claim for temporary disability benefits for the period from April 25, 2001 to October 8, 2001.


In this respect Dr. Kulick wrote:  

Though the pt was initially retd to light-duty work w/ restrictive hours following the previous clinic visit on 04/23, the work status was revised because of the extensive drive that the pt is required to make in order to get to work significantly exacerbated the carpal tunnel syndromes.  It was felt best to cont the work release.  However, because the carpal tunnel syndromes were not related to the shoulder injury, the insurance carrier suspended worker’s comp benefits but inititated payments on the basis of anticipated permanent impairment as detailed in the letter of April 30, 2001, which is included on the chart.  

(Ex. 2, p. 1)


Thus, Dr. Kulick the primary treating orthopedic surgeon who performed all of the surgeries has definitively stated that claimant was taken off work on approximately April 23, 2001 and any previous returns to work had been revised because of claimant inability to drive to work without aggravating her carpal tunnel condition.


Dr. Kulick revised the note he wrote which is found on defendants’ exhibit B, page 60, where he had previously stated on April 23, 2001 that she could work four hours a day light duty no manual labor with the left arm and she was to use a sling as needed.  (Ex. B, p. 60)


Subsequent to that note which was revised to take claimant off work completely Dr. Kulick wrote another note dated May 18, 2001 releasing claimant from work until June 18, 2001 (Ex. B, p. 61) and subsequent to that on June 25, 2001, Dr. Kulick wrote a note saying claimant was to “remain off work” because of bilateral carpal tunnel releases approximately 12 weeks apart and he added that the estimated temporary disability would be approximately six months.  

(Ex. B, p. 62)


In addition on May 18, 2001 Dr. Kulick noted:

It is possible to consider a return to light-duty work though I anticipate that the restriction parameters would be sufficiently stringent that the employer would not be ablt to effectively accommodate.  Repetitive manual work for both hands would need to be essentially eliminated.  Maximum 10-lb lifting limit.  No pushing or pulling.  W/ this consideration it’s probably best just to cont the work release and proceed to completion of treatment.  

(Ex. 2, pp. 1 and 2)


Wherefore it is determined that claimant is entitled to healing period benefits for the period from April 25, 2001 through October 8, 2001 as shown on the hearing report.  This is a period of 23.857 weeks of healing period benefits for the bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome which occurred on September 8, 2000 (23.857 weeks of healing period benefits times the agreed rate of $138.90 per week equals $3,313.74 commencing on April 25, 2001).


With respect to permanent partial disability benefits with respect to the bilateral carpal tunnel injury which occurred on September 8, 2000, Dr. Neiman determined claimant had:  “5% of the upper extremities, both hands, be given.  Using the comined values table, it would be 10% of the upper extremity relating to the carpal tunnel.”  (Ex. 1, p. 4)


Using Iowa Code section 85.34(2)(s) then 10 percent of 500 weeks equals 50 weeks and 50 weeks times the agreed rate here of $138.90 per week means that claimant is entitled to $6,945.00 commencing on October 8, 2001.

The employer shall furnish reasonable surgical, medical, dental, osteopathic, chiropractic, podiatric, physical rehabilitation, nursing, ambulance and hospital services and supplies for all conditions compensable under the workers' compensation law.  The employer shall also allow reasonable and necessary transportation expenses incurred for those services.  The employer has the right to choose the provider of care, except where the employer has denied liability for the injury.  Section 85.27.  Holbert v. Townsend Engineering Co., Thirty-second Biennial Report of the Industrial Commissioner 78 (Review-reopen 1975).


The parties stipulated on the hearing report that the fees or prices charged by the medical providers were fair and reasonable and that the treatment was reasonable and necessary and that in the event of a dispute the medical providers would testify as to the reasonableness of their fees and/or treatment set forth in the list of expenses.  Defendants were not offering contrary evidence.  Defendants did dispute whether these medical expenses were causally connected to these injuries.  An examination of the attachment to the hearing report labeled Medical Bills had been examined and it is determined that claimant is entitled to all of these listed medical expenses in the total amount of $8,940.27 and they are to be paid by defendants to the employee or the provider of medical services if they are already paid.

ORDER


THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED:


That defendants pay to claimant thirteen thousand, eight hundred ninety and 37/100 dollars ($13,890.37) of permanent partial disability benefits as industrial disability as calculated above and commencing on August 22, 2001 when defendants ceased paying permanent disability benefits.


That defendants pay to claimant three thousand, three hundred thirteen and 74/100 dollars ($3,313.74) in healing period benefits for the bilateral carpal tunnel injury commencing on April 25, 2001.


That defendants pay to claimant fifty (50) weeks of permanent partial disability benefits pursuant to Iowa Code section 85.34(2)(s) at the rate of one hundred thirty-eight and 90/100 dollars ($138.90) per week in the total amount of six thousand, nine hundred forty-five dollars ($6,945.00) commencing on October 8, 2001.


That interest will accrue pursuant to Iowa Code section 85.30.


That all accrued benefits are to be paid in a lump sum.


That defendants pay to claimant or the provider of medical services the medical expenses shown on the attachment to the hearing report labeled Medical Bills in the total amount of eight thousand, nine hundred forty and 27/100 dollars ($8,940.27).


That costs are assessed to defendants including the costs of the court reporter at hearing and the transcript of hearing pursuant to Iowa Code section 86.19, Iowa Code section 86.40, and rule 876 IAC 4.33.


That defendants file subsequent reports as requested by this agency pursuant to rule 876 IAC 3.1(2).

Signed and filed this ____13th____ day of April, 2004.

   ____________________________







WALTER R. MCMANUS, JR.
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